72334-1

72334-1

No. 72334-1

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,
DIVISION I

NIKOLAY BELIKOV, a married individual,

Respondent,

v.

MARYANN HUHS and ROY E. HUHS, JR., and the marital community
thereof,

Appellants.

CORRECTED BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Steven W. Block, WSBA No. 24299
FOSTER PEPPER PLLC
1111 Third Avenue, Suite 3400
Seattle, Washington 98101-3299
Telephone: (206) 447-4400
Facsimile: (206) 447-9700
Email: sblock@foster.com
Attorneys for Appellants Maryann
Huhs and Roy E. Huhs, Jr.

FILED
COURT OF APPEALS DIV I
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2015 APR 15 PM 4:05

ORIGINAL

INTRODUCTION

This appeal primarily addresses legal ownership of defendant R-Amtech International, Inc. (“R-Amtech,” pronounced “RAM-teck”). The trial court ruled that plaintiff Nikolay E. Belikov (“Belikov”), for his own economic and other reasons, did not want to own R-Amtech. The evidence showed that the parties therefore abandoned the original plan that Belikov own the company. Ownership was purchased by, and shares issued to, defendant Maryann Huhs in 1998, a circumstance that was never altered. The evidence demonstrated that Belikov treated Maryann Huhs as R-Amtech’s owner, and avoided Russian and U.S. taxes and Russian registration requirements by not being an owner. Nonetheless, the trial court ruled Belikov legally owns R-Amtech, and awarded to R-Amtech \$3,112,329.00 in damages, and to Belikov \$900,000.00 in attorneys’ fees, for a total of \$4,031,646.25 against Roy E. Huhs, Jr. (“Al Huhs,” a lawyer) and Maryann Huhs (collectively, “the Huhses”).

Belikov was on inquiry notice since 1998, many years longer than the statute of limitations allows, that Maryann Huhs owned R-Amtech’s stock and was acting as R-Amtech’s sole owner, enjoying the benefits and shouldering the burdens of such ownership. The trial court erred by determining that the discovery rule protects Belikov from a statute of limitations defense in such circumstances.

In 2007, Belikov gifted real estate in Cle Elum, Washington (the “Suncadia Property”) to the Huhses and their sons. The trial court erred by rescinding this gift based on Al Huhs’s alleged violation of RPC 1.8(c), including by declining to apply the statute of limitations.

The trial court improperly vacated Belikov’s jury demand over the Huhses’ objections, and denied the Huhses a trial by jury.

The trial court erred by awarding attorneys’ fees to Belikov, and by improperly vacating a *lis pendens* the Huhses recorded on the Suncadia Property pending this appeal.

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Assignments of Error

1. The trial court erred by granting Belikov’s motion to strike Belikov’s jury demand, and denying the Huhses a trial by jury.¹
2. The trial court erred by not applying the statute of limitations to Belikov’s claims against the Huhses regarding ownership of R-Amtech.²
3. The trial court erred by ruling Belikov owns R-Amtech.³
4. The trial court erred by ruling Al Huhs violated RPC 1.8(c).⁴

¹ CP 815-17.

² CP 1858.

³ CP 1853.

5. The trial court erred by ruling a lawyer may be civilly liable to a client based on the lawyer's violation of RPC 1.8(c).⁵

6. The trial court erred by ruling a client's gift to a lawyer in violation of RPC 1.8(c) is void *ab initio*, as opposed to voidable, and therefore not subject to the statute of limitations. Thus, the trial court erred in ruling Belikov's RPC 1.8(c) claim is not time barred.⁶

7. The trial court erred by awarding to Belikov non-statutory attorneys' fees and costs.⁷

8. The trial court erred by releasing the Huhses' *lis pendens* pending this appeal.⁸

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

1. The trial court vacated Belikov's jury demand over the Huhses' objections, denying them a trial by jury. Given that (1) this case's issues are overwhelmingly questions of law; (2) the trial court's verdict was based overwhelmingly on legal concepts; (3) Belikov presented few, if any, viable theories in equity; and (4) the factors set forth in *Scavenius v. Manchester Port Dist.*⁹ weigh heavily in favor of a jury trial, was the denial of a jury trial improper? (Assignment of Error 1)

2. Belikov, by his own testimony, (1) was at all times since its inception chairman of R-Amtech's board of directors; (2) attended board meetings regularly through 2005; (3) sent and received communications over many years wherein Maryann Huhs was

⁴ CP 1859-60.

⁵ CP 1859-60.

⁶ CP 1860.

⁷ CP 1259-61, Order Granting Plaintiff's Motion for Award of Attorneys' Fees; CP 1275-78, Judgment for Plaintiff for Reasonable Attorneys' Fees and Costs.

⁸ CP 1796-99, Order Releasing Lis Pendens Pursuant to RCW 4.28.320.

⁹ 2 Wn. App. 126, 129-130, 467 P.2d 372, 374 (1970).

stated to be R-Amtech's sole owner; (4) had tens of millions of dollars in investment and financial expectations in R-Amtech; and yet (5) never once discussed his purported ownership of R-Amtech with either Maryann Huhs or his and R-Amtech's lawyer, John Huhs. Under these circumstances, was Belikov on inquiry notice that he did not own R-Amtech, and that Maryann Huhs was acting as R-Amtech's sole owner, many years longer than the statute of limitations allows, even considering the discovery rule?

(Assignments of Error 2 and 3)

3. The trial court concluded that "it is clear [Belikov] had his own reasons for not wanting record ownership of R-Amtech" from the time of its formation in January 1996, and that he made an "unwise attempt to avoid record ownership." Based on these desires, intentions and directions of Belikov, full ownership of R-Amtech was vested in Maryann Huhs in 1998, a fact that always was well known and never challenged by Belikov. Under these circumstances, did the trial court err by ruling that Belikov owns R-Amtech? (Assignment of Error 3)

4. In 2007, Belikov gifted the Suncadia Property to the Huhses. Al Huhs, an attorney, did not draft any document on Belikov's behalf effecting the gift, and did not influence Belikov into making it (indeed, Al Huhs did not know about the gift until months after Belikov agreed to make it). Did the trial court err by ruling that Al Huhs violated RPC 1.8(c), and by rescinding the Suncadia Property gift? (Assignments of Error 4 and 5)

5. RPC 1.8(a), under certain circumstances, can serve as the basis for a court to refuse to enforce a contract governing a lawyer-client business transaction when the client is denied a pre-contract opportunity to consult with separate counsel. This concept is based on public policy considerations. However, RPC 1.8(c), proscribing a lawyer from drafting an instrument on behalf of a client giving the lawyer a substantial gift from a client, cannot be, and has never been held by any court based on the ABA Model Rules to be, a basis to rescind a client-to-lawyer gift. Did the trial court err by applying principles governing lawyer-client business transactions under RPC 1.8(a) to allegations under RPC 1.8(c), and ruling that (1) RPC 1.8(c) can be the basis to rescind a client-to-lawyer gift without any suggestion of solicitation or undue influence; (2) Al Huhs drafted an instrument on Belikov's behalf

that had the legal effect of giving Al Huhs a real estate gift from Belikov as proscribed by RPC 1.8(c); and (3) Belikov's action to rescind his 2007 gift to the Huhses is not time barred?
(Assignments of Error 4, 5 and 6)

6. The trial court awarded Belikov \$900,000 in attorneys' fees. Belikov had petitioned for an award of \$1,142,424.15 in attorneys' fees, which he claimed were the totality of fees incurred in the prosecution of his "breach of fiduciary duty, fraud and conversion claims." Did the trial court err by awarding non-statutory fees to Belikov; and by awarding that amount?
(Assignment of Error 7)

7. After trial and entry of judgment, the Huhses filed a *lis pendens* on the Suncadia Property, asserting that ownership of it remained in dispute pending appeal. Did the trial court err in releasing that *lis pendens*? (Assignment of Error 8)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Parties.

Belikov is a Russian citizen residing in Costa Rica.¹⁰ RP 5/22

881:9. The Huhses, a married couple, are residents of Washington. RP

5/20 578:21-22; 579:11-18. R-Amtech is a Washington corporation. TR

3.

B. Formation of R-Amtech.

Nonparty ZAO-Elorg ("Elorg"), a Russian company of which Belikov was a principal, acquired ownership of the intellectual property ("IP") of the videogame "Tetris" after a complex ownership transition involving numerous Soviet government and private entities in the 1980s.

¹⁰ The trial court did not make any award in favor of plaintiff Techno-TM ZAO ("TM-ZAO"). CP 1836, fn 1.

RP 5/27 12:17-20:10; 5/27 23:18-24:3. Belikov never owned the Tetris IP individually. RP 5/21 766:11-16. R-Amtech was formed on January 22, 1996 to license, sell, and distribute Tetris and other Russian technologies. RP 5/21 757:18-759:6. In 1996, Elorg executed license agreements assigning to R-Amtech the worldwide marketing rights to the Tetris IP.¹¹ TR 152; RP 5/20 596:4-12. The licensing agreements provided that R-Amtech would retain 60% of revenue derived from the marketing of Tetris, and pay Elorg the remaining 40%. TR 151, 152.

Revenues from Tetris were divided between R-Amtech and Elorg for years without protest from Belikov. RP 5/20 599:10-14; 612:22-613:4; 620:19-622:14. Other than an early loan and Maryann Huhs's purchase of stock, all of R-Amtech's capitalization was derived from its 60% share of receipts from income generated by its Tetris licensing agreements. RP 5/20 592:9-20. Belikov dismissed the documented Elorg/R-Amtech Tetris license agreements as "artificial," asserting that the contracts were nonbinding or meaningless. RP 5/21 769:19-772:3. He testified that all revenues from the marketing of Tetris, including R-Amtech's 60%, "are my money." RP 5/27 44:25-45:12. He further testified that his lawyer,

¹¹ Several years later, ZAO-Elorg was substituted by nonparty Elorg Company, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company ("Elorg-LLC"), of which Belikov also was the principal. Because this is not relevant to the substance of this appeal, both entities are collectively referred to herein as "Elorg."

John Huhs, arranged the program.¹² RP 5/27 117: 13-15. Thus, Belikov argued, and the trial court agreed, that R-Amtech's 60% constituted Belikov's personal capitalization of R-Amtech. CP 1842-43.

Maryann Huhs, as R-Amtech's owner and primary employee, administered much of the Tetris licensing; arranged for payment of costs (including R-Amtech salaries, brand maintenance, infringement activities, costs associated with the activities of subsidiary companies, and extensive worldwide copyright maintenance fees); paid Elorg its share of the profits; and paid herself dividends as R-Amtech's owner.¹³ RP 5/27 140:1-141:22. Tetris was sold in January 2005, resulting in a \$14.4 million payout to Belikov – tax-free because he was not an owner of R-Amtech – and \$600,000 to R-Amtech and Maryann Huhs, who paid taxes. RP 6/5 115:12-22; 128:20-23.

C. Ownership of R-Amtech.

By his own admission, Belikov was at all times represented by attorney John Huhs with respect to R-Amtech, as well as Belikov's interests in, and contemplated ownership of, R-Amtech, and R-Amtech's business. RP 5/21 758:24-759:6; 5/27 44:20-22. John Huhs originally sat

¹² Belikov testified: "Well, it was John Huhs's idea. He said something should be on paper, because the decision on how much money should be transferred, that was my decision. Because it was my money."

¹³ The business and financial structure of Tetris's marketing was very complex involving several different entities, a point the trial court recognized. CP 1838-39. That structure is not pertinent to this appeal, and therefore is not presented herein.

on R-Amtech's board of directors. TR 530; CP 289-90. Again, by his own admission, Belikov never saw a need to discuss his allegedly intended ownership of R-Amtech with his attorney John Huhs and, in fact, never did discuss such purported ownership with him despite his "complete trust and faith" in him through 2003. RP 5/27 40:6-9; 44:20-46:11; 47:3-19.

Belikov testified he "appointed ... president" of R-Amtech Maryann Huhs. RP 5/21 761:10-13. By this action, he claims Maryann Huhs duped him over some 15 years about his being R-Amtech's owner. However, by his own admission, Belikov never once discussed his purported ownership of R-Amtech with Maryann Huhs. RP 5/27 47:20-48:1; 5/28 2:10-16.

Originally, it was contemplated that Belikov, Maryann Huhs, several Russian nationals, and others providing business and professional expertise would jointly own R-Amtech's stock. RP 5/22 806:13-23; 6/5 72:12-75:23. This ownership structure was not implemented, as the Russians, including Belikov, declined stock ownership citing concern about U.S. and Russian taxation, disclosure and government registration concerns. 6/5 72:12-75:23. Extensive documentation confirms this point,¹⁴ and the trial court concluded in its findings that "Mr. Belikov did

¹⁴ Specifically, email correspondence from and by Belikov's attorneys, R-Amtech, and R-Amtech's accountant; and R-Amtech board of director meeting minutes demonstrate

not want his ownership to trigger the requirement that R-Amtech file IRS Form 5472 ...,” which would have resulted in Belikov incurring Russian and U.S. tax obligations.¹⁵ CP 1844. The trial court further ruled:

Certainly Mr. Belikov could and should have been more assertive. It is clear he had his own reasons for not wanting record ownership of R-Amtech. But it is equally clear that at all times he intended to be, believed he was the managing owner of R-Amtech.” CP 1852.

Nonetheless, Mr. Belikov’s unwise attempt to avoid record ownership did not serve to vest ownership in Maryann Huhs. Significantly, no one apparently ever informed Mr. Belikov of any potential legal detriments of not maintaining record ownership, presumably because none could have been foreseen during this time period. CP 1085.

Belikov never asserted any claim of ownership of R-Amtech until he filed this action in July 2012. RP 6/5 20:2-13. No evidence or testimony suggests there was an understanding that Maryann Huhs would own R-Amtech’s stock as a “straw person” for Belikov to enable him to avoid U.S. and Russian taxes, as well as registration with Russian authorities (Maryann Huhs testified there was no such understanding). RP 6/5 76:19-25. Again, Belikov testified he never discussed it with her. In 1998, Maryann Huhs purchased and received all of R-Amtech’s stock, and offered as evidence a stock certificate in her name. RP 6/5 75:22-23;

Belikov’s refusal to own stock despite numerous proposals. Belikov’s personal portfolio documentation does not mention that he “owns” R-Amtech. TR 99, 531, 540, 629, 630.

¹⁵ See IRC 6038.

CP 124-26. Belikov has no stock certificate or knowledge that one was issued to him. RP 5/22 806:13-807:6.

The Huhses testified Belikov was chairman of R-Amtech's board of directors¹⁶ from 1996 through 2005, when he resigned. RP 5/21 702:5-7; 6/4 26:5-8; 6/5 80:20-23. Belikov testified he is and always has been chairman of R-Amtech's board, and that he attended no meetings after 2005 because he did not know they were taking place, and apparently saw no reason to call any himself. RP 5/28 40:7-14.

Belikov presented evidence that he "should" have been issued R-Amtech stock, pointing to a January 26, 1996 board consent to action that directed such issuance (TR 529); and an entry in R-Amtech's financial records showing a "\$20,000" entry for "Capital stock – b Common stock." TR 160. The consent to action predates numerous communications demonstrating stock never was issued to Belikov – at his own direction. TR 540, 629, 630; RP 5/19 293:13-23; 5/19 327:13-16; 5/27 6:16-8:1; 6/4 102:19-103:7; 6/5 108:7-15. Belikov never exercised an additional option to purchase shares. RP 5/28 10:17-20; 30:19-32:6. By 2003, he had abandoned attempts to obtain stock. RP 6/5 107:25-108:6.

¹⁶ The chairman of the board has no executive authority; is limited to presiding over board of director meetings; and need not be a shareholder. RP 6/4 172:9-16.

Per his expert, Lorraine Barrick, Belikov claimed the \$20,000 capital stock entry in R-Amtech tax returns is evidence Belikov “purchased” stock. RP 6/2 38:1-22. Barrick explained that a \$26,000 entry represents Belikov’s acquisition of 25,000 shares for \$1.00/share, \$6,000 of which was converted to a loan. RP 6/2 36:2-39:19. But R-Amtech’s accountant, Gregg Jordshaugen, testified the \$20,000 entry was a “placeholder” not reflective of any stock purchase, inserted while the parties were exploring ownership issues. RP 6/4 92:3-23. As an oversight, Mr. Jordshaugen left in R-Amtech’s accounting the placeholder for years after discussions regarding Belikov owning stock were abandoned. RP 6/2 92:3-23.

Belikov claimed below that he holds “beneficial ownership,” purportedly in equity, of R-Amtech by asserting “he” funded R-Amtech through Tetris royalties (which R-Amtech retained through its licensing agreements with Elorg, that Belikov claimed were “artificial”) RP 5/21 770:6-771:12; and that R-Amtech did “no work” for the Tetris royalties, and therefore is not entitled to them. RP 6/2 65:11-22. However, R-Amtech, largely through Maryann Huhs’s efforts, did significant work toward the successful management of Tetris. RP 6/5 100:5-103:9.

The trial court barred testimony from the Huhses’ expert witness, Sergey S. Sokolov, as irrelevant. CP 950-51. Sokolov, a Russian law

expert, would have testified that Belikov could not legally become a direct, indirect, “beneficial” or any other variety of owner of any U.S. company unless he first obtained authorization from the Central Bank of Russia, and complied with Russia’s registration and capital currency requirements for income he derived from it. CP 635-652. Belikov disclaimed any knowledge of whether he did so, testifying that this was the responsibility of his lawyer, John Huhs.¹⁷ RP 5/28 17:20-18:11.

D. The Tetris Sale.

On January 21, 2005, non-party Tetris Holdings, LLC purchased Elorg (including the Tetris IP Elorg owned) from Belikov, and a subsidiary, Games International, LLC (“Games”), from R-Amtech which held the licensing rights to Tetris. Elorg, R-Amtech, Games, Belikov and Maryann Huhs were separate signatories to the sale agreement. TR 648.

In that contract, Belikov relinquished to Tetris Holdings, LLC his interest in Elorg. TR 648. Elorg warranted it had good and exclusive title to the Tetris IP, and that it had no ownership interest, or obligation to make any investment or capital contribution, in R-Amtech. TR 648. Elorg also released R-Amtech from any and all liabilities and obligations under the Tetris licensing agreements. TR 648. This demonstrates the

¹⁷ The trial court noted there was no evidence Belikov was aware he had any Russian taxation or registration requirements. CP 1845. However, this was not a subject of trial testimony, as the trial court had barred Sokolov in an order in limine. CP 950-51.

distinction between Belikov and Elorg as participants in the program whereby R-Amtech marketed Tetris, and that R-Amtech's 60% was not Belikov's money representing his personal capitalization of the company.

E. Belikov's Real Estate Gift to the Huhses.

Belikov agreed to gift the Suncadia Property to Maryann Huhs months before Al Huhs knew about it. Specifically, Belikov testified that Maryann Huhs "sprung" the concept of the gift on him unexpectedly during a meeting with his financial advisor, and that he agreed to it out of embarrassment, in December 2006. RP 6/2 143:16-144:7. He testified that he first discussed the gift with Al Huhs only in February 2007. RP 6/2 146:2-147:11. The trial court ruled:

Maryann Huhs first raised the issue of the Suncadia home in late 2006 in a meeting with Mr. Belikov and Mr. Ferguson. Although not germane to the court's final analysis, the court concludes that Mr. Belikov reluctantly agreed to the gift because he was embarrassed to seem ignorant or ungenerous in front of Mr. Ferguson.¹⁸

Belikov was required to consult with his own financial advisors at Morgan Stanley Smith Barney ("MSSB"); and arrange and document the transfer of funds from his own trust through them, as part of effecting the gift. RP 5/20 491:4-494:13.

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