72334-1



MAY 1 5 2015

No. 72334-1-I King County Superior Court Case No. 12-2-23972-0 SEA

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

NIKOLAY BELIKOV, a married individual; TECHNO-TM ZAO, a Russian closed joint stock company; and R-AMTECH INTERNATIONAL, INC..¹

Respondents,

v.

MARYANN HUHS and ROY E. HUHS, JR. and the marital community thereof.

Appellants.

CORRECTED BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Philip S. McCune, WSBA #21081 Lawrence C. Locker, WSBA #15819 Maureen L. Mitchell, WSBA #30356 SUMMIT LAW GROUP PLLC 315 Fifth Avenue South, Suite 1000 Seattle, Washington 98104-2682 philm@summitlaw.com larryl@summitlaw.com maureenm@summitlaw.com (206) 676-7000

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

⁶ State v. Samalla, 344 P.3d 722, 215 WL 968754 (Wash. App. Div. 3, 2015) (quoting State v. Thomas, 150 Wn.2d 821, 874-75, 83 P.3d 970 (2004)).

⁷ Dodge City Saloon, Inc. v. Washington State Liquor Control Bd., 168 Wn. App. 388, 395, 288 P.3d 343 (2012).

⁸ In re Marriage of Raskob, 183 Wn. App. 503, 510, 334 P.3d 30 (2014).

⁹ State v. Manion, 173 Wn. App. 610, 633, 295 P.3d 270 (2013).

¹⁰ Mason v. Mortgage America, Inc., 114 Wn.2d 842, 852, 792 P.2d 142 (1990) (quoting Lidstrand v. Silvercrest Indus., 28 Wn. App. 359, 364, 623 P.2d 710 (1981), (quoting Hallin v. Bode, 58 Wn.2d 280, 281, 362 P.2d 242 (1961))).

¹¹ Thorndike v. Hesperian Orchards, Inc., 54 Wn.2d 570, 575, 343 P.2d 183 (1959).

¹² Jensen v. Lake Jane Estates, 165 Wn. App. 100, 104, 267 P.3d 435 (2011) (quoting *Quinn v. Cherry Lane Auto Plaza, Inc.*, 153 Wn. App. 710, 717, 225 P.3d 266 (2009)).

65). The Huhses did not challenge any of the trial court's findings. Each fact found by the trial court in this action is therefore a verity on appeal.

The Huhses' appeal is fundamentally flawed because they rely upon their now-rejected version of the evidence they presented at trial. Belikov presented his side of the case, the Huhses presented theirs, and Judge Halpert chose which of it to believe. ¹³ An example, which is discussed in more detail below, is their argument that the statute of limitations barred Belikov's claim for ownership of R-Amtech. The trier of fact, Judge Halpert, performed her role and found that, "Mr. Belikov did not and could not reasonably have known of the wrongful acts of Maryann and Al Huhs before July 15, 2009—that is three years before this action was filed. (CP 1848, Finding 37). The Huhses improperly ask this Court to re-evaluate the evidence, undo the trial court's factual findings, and decide that the Huhses' testimony is more credible. Specifically, the Huhses advance a theory that Belikov knowingly refused stock ownership based on legal advice of his former attorney, John Huhs. (Appellants' Br. at 8 (citing RP 6/5/14 72:12-75:23) and 10 (citing RP 6/5/14 107:25-108:15)). Belikov, on the other hand, denied refusing stock, and testified that he had never told anyone that he did not want R-Amtech stock and that, apart from the initial Board meeting, he had never discussed issuance of stock certificates with Maryann or Al Huhs. (RP 5/22, 806:11-807:12.)

¹³ *Quinn*, 153 Wn. App. at 717 ("There was conflicting evidence in this case. The trial judge weighed that conflicting evidence and chose which of it to believe. That is the end of the story.")

This case was a classic swearing contest, for which greater deference is afforded to the trial court's determinations of witness credibility. ¹⁴ In addition to finding that on the statute of limitations issue Belikov "easily met this burden." (CP 1858, Conclusion 74), the trial court made multiple specific findings that the Huhses' testimony and statements were not credible, for example:

- The court specifically does not find credible Maryann Huhs's testimony that the \$26,000 [Belikov's initial investment] was "trailing royalties" from INRES. (CP 1843, Finding 20; see also, e.g., RP 6/5/14 62:20-65:24 (M. Huhs testimony); RP 5/29/14 71:4-17, 72:10-83:25 (Forensic Accounting and Fraud Expert L. Barrick testimony); Ex. 188).
- The court finds that Ms. Huhs' trial testimony was not credible and that she is the author of this document [a R-Amtech letter identifying Belikov as its "principal owner" who provided its "revenue source from Tetris.TM"] (CP 1843-44, Finding 21, n.8; RP 5/21/14 671:22-674:22; Ex. 30).
- Maryann Huhs ... indicated that R-Amtech did not have sufficient funds to meet this obligation [a legal bill] (Ex. 123).... The statement about R-Amtech's finances was false. At this point, R-Amtech had substantial sums [over \$2 million] in its Morgan Stanley account [Exs. 220.3, 220.4] and Maryann Huhs had taken, without authority, substantial dividends [Exs. 226 at 2, 6, 227 at 1, 4, 258 at 3, 7]. (CP 1844, Finding 23, n.9).
- Although the signed version has been lost, at her deposition, Maryann Huhs admitted signing the letter [describing Belikov as the beneficial owner of R-Amtech]. Her testimony to the contrary at trial is not credible. (CP 1846, Finding 30; Ex. 610; RP 6/5/14 144:11-145:16; RP 5/21/14 675:5-676:25.)

¹⁴ City of Bellevue v. Pine Forest Properties, Inc., 340 P.3d 938, 948, 2014 WL 7338757 (Wash. App. Div. 1, 2014) (quoting Dolan v. King County, 172 Wn.2d 299, 311, 258 P.3d 20 (2011)).

- [The Huhses] owed him a fiduciary duty and yet lied to him and to others regarding their actions and intentions. (CP 1852, Finding 55; RP 5/14/14 42:7-24, 174:9-176:11).
- Over the years, they lead Mr. Belikov to believe that they were acting in his best interests while secretly taking steps to assert sole control over his company. (CP 1859, Conclusion 75).¹⁵

The trial court's findings and conclusions are well-reasoned and factually supported. The Huhses' attempt to re-argue their case, often without proper citation to the record, is fundamentally flawed.¹⁶

B. The Trial Court Properly Exercised Its Broad Discretion in Holding that All Claims Would Be Tried to the Bench.

Appellants have mistaken both the record and the law in challenging the trial court's informed exercise of its broad discretion in granting Belikov's motion to strike his own jury demand. In cases involving questions of both equity and law, the Court may determine whether legal or equitable claims predominate, and has broad discretion in

¹⁵ For example, Maryann Huhs requested on March 17, 2008, that Belikov pay legal fees for maintenance of R-Amtech's patents (Ex. 123), without telling him that it was their position that they had removed him from the R-Amtech Board and transferred the licensing rights to those patents to their own Nevada company for \$1,000 in December 2007. (Ex. 545). As it turns out, the Huhses created board minutes in January 2012 and backdated them to December 2007 in an effort to support their claims in negotiations with the licensee, Fireaway. (Ex. 558; RP 6/5/14 35:9-38:2). The Huhses also did not inform Belikov of the new license agreement with Fireaway (Ex. 543), which was negotiated over a period of months beginning in the fall of 2007 (RP 5/14/14 172:1-6) and signed on March 30, 2008, and contained a minimum royalty provision—now destined for the Huhses' company—of \$4 million. (Ex. 543; RP 5/14/14 177:8-25). Instead, Maryann Huhs told Belikov that Fireaway continued not to pay, and advised him in late January 2008 of the prospect of Fireaway suing R-Amtech in the event R-Amtech cancelled the license for nonpayment of royalties. (Ex. 119).

¹⁶ Belikov objects to multiple instances in Appellants' Brief of factual assertions without any citation to the record, *e.g.* pages 32-38, which should be stricken or disregarded by this Court. *See Nelson v. McGoldrick*, 127 Wn.2d 124, 141, 896 P.2d 1258 (1995) (striking "numerous factual assertions unsupported by the record").

this exercise.¹⁷ That "wide discretion" includes the latitude "to allow a jury on some, none or all" of the issues presented and will not be disturbed "except for clear abuse."¹⁸ A jury cannot consider equitable claims.¹⁹ Here, the trial court properly went beyond the pleadings to ascertain the real issues in dispute and studied the *Scavenius* factors before determining that the case would be tried to the bench.²⁰ The trial court's inquiry appropriately examined the remedies sought rather than the strict form of causes of action pled, as required under Washington law.²¹

The Huhses admit in their opening brief,²² as they conceded below, that this lawsuit includes "claim[s] for equitable relief." (CP 808). They

¹⁷ See Brown v. Safeway Stores, Inc., 94 Wn.2d 359, 365, 367-68, 617 P.2d 704 (1980) (approving and adopting Scavenius v. Manchester Port Dist., 2 Wn. App. 126, 129-30, 467 P.2d 372 (1970)).

¹⁸ Brown, 94 Wn.2d 359, 367-368, 617 P.2d 704 (1980) (internal citation and quotation omitted). Historically, where any one of the issues in an action was equitable in nature, the parties had no right to trial by jury on any issue. Coleman v. Highland Lumber, 46 Wn.2d 549, 550, 283 P.2d 123 (1955). Only in 1970 did the Washington State Court of Appeals hold in Scavenius that new Civil Rules, CR 38 and 39, allowed "more discretion in the trial court than Coleman", and provide a nonexclusive list of factors for trial courts to consider in exercising that "wide discretion." Scavenius, 2 Wn. App. at 129-130. In 1980, Brown, supra, adopted these Scavenius factors. The Huhses' arguments for a jury in this mixed equitable and legal case thus stand on limited rights to a jury expanded in recent decades but always subject to the broadest discretion of the trial court.

¹⁹ Dep't of Ecology v. Anderson, 94 Wn.2d 727, 730, 620 P.2d 76 (1980) ("Even when a case presents a mixture of legal and equitable issues, a court has the discretion *only* to try the *legal* issues before a jury") (emphasis added).

²⁰ Auburn Mech., Inc. v. Lydig Constr., Inc., 89 Wn. App. 893, 898, 951 P.2d 311 (1998) (citing Brown, 94 Wn.2d at 368). The trial court considered extensive briefing on the Scavenius factors (e.g., CP 802-03; CP 810-812; CP 2054-55) and referenced those factors in its Order Granting Plaintiffs' Motion to Strike Jury Demand, which added its own Scavenius analysis to the form order presented by Plaintiffs. CP 815-16 (court order adding underlined language).

²¹ Auburn Mech., Inc., 89 Wn. App. at 899, (citing Chauffeurs, Teamsters & Helpers, Local No. 391 v. Terry, 494 U.S. 558, 565 (1990) and 1 Dan B. Dobbs, Dobbs Law of Remedies § 2.6(3) at 156 (2d ed. 1993))

²² See, e.g., Appellants' Br. at 15 (acknowledging equitable claims and remedies); 19 (admitting "equitable remedies"), 20-21 (acknowledging equitable claims for relief).

conceded below that the three promissory estoppel claims, asserted by both sides are "claim[s] for equitable relief." (CP 807). And they conceded below and here that the relief Belikov sought for conversion, fraud, and breach of fiduciary were the "equitable remedies" of resulting trust, constructive trust, declaratory judgment and extensive injunctive relief.²³ (CP 807-08, 810-11). Finally, the Huhses did not contest below the premise that Belikov's numerous requested remedies were fundamentally equitable remedies (e.g., an order transferring patents back to R-Amtech, requiring the execution of property transfer documents, injunctive relief, etc.). (CP 801-02). The best the Huhses could do was to argue that "[m]onetary remedies predominate[d] over equitable remedies, just as claims at law are primary claims." (CP 811). But Washington law guarantees a right to a jury trial only "where a civil action is purely legal in nature."²⁴ In the light of this standard and the record, the trial court's exercise of its discretion to strike the jury was well within its discretion.²⁵

The Huhses stretch too far in attempting to characterize Belikov's claims in a way that would somehow trump the thoughtful discretion of the trial court. For example, equitable claims were much broader than the Huhses admit here. Belikov's fiduciary duty claim and his fraud claims sounded in equity, not at law, because he sought equitable remedies of

²³ Appellants' Br. at 15 (acknowledging that claims for promissory estoppel, unjust enrichment, resulting trust, constructive trust, preliminary and permanent injunction, and declaratory judgment are equitable).

²⁴ Brown, 94 Wn.2d at 365 (emphasis added).

²⁵ See also Dep't of Ecology v. Anderson, 94 Wn.2d 727, 730, 620 P.2d 76 (1980) ("the trial court [has] a wide discretion in cases involving both legal and equitable issues to submit to a jury some, none or all of the legal issues presented.").

constructive and resulting trusts to redress those violations. (CP 1823-27, 1830-31). Washington law teaches that "[a]ctions involving fiduciary relationships that seek accountings and imposition of constructive trusts are invariably equitable." Similarly, "[n]either equity nor a court of law can be said to have exclusive jurisdiction in matters of fraud. If equitable relief is sought, the case would be tried as one in equity."

The trial court properly followed Washington law that:

The distinction between legal and equitable claims is based on the nature of the action, not the form of the action. The court must examine the pleadings on file at the time the court rules on the motion to strike the jury demand, and should go beyond the pleadings to ascertain the real issues in dispute More importantly, courts must examine the remedy sought."²⁸

"Overwhelmingly, courts characterize claims according to the remedies sought rather than according to the subject matter or substantive rules involved." Belikov's requests for equitable relief from fraud, fiduciary breach, and conversion caused those claims to sound in equity.

²⁶ Whatcom County v. Reynolds, 27 Wn. App. 880, 882, 620 P.2d 544 (1980). Similarly, Belikov did not seek damages personally but rather a restoration of funds to R-Amtech. (CP 1105, 1862, 1823-25, 2103). Under these circumstances also the fiduciary breach claims are equitable. Accord, Allard v. Pac. Nat'l Bank, 99 Wn.2d 394, 400-01, 663 P.2d 104 (1983) (where beneficiaries assert fiduciary duty claims to restore funds to a trust rather than themselves, "the action is considered equitable in nature").

²⁷ Reed v. Reeves, 160 Wash. 282, 284, 294 P. 995 (1931); see also Ranta v. German, 1 Wn. App. 104, 459 P.2d 961 (1969) (upholding denial of jury trial because fraud claims seeking rescission and restitution were equitable); *Millet v. Pacific Cider & Vinegar Co.*, 151 Wash. 561, 566-67, 276 P. 863 (1929) (upholding trial court's refusal to empanel a jury because the fraud claim for relief was equitable despite claim for money damages).

²⁸ Auburn Mech, Inc., 89 Wn. App. at 899 (emphasis added; internal quotation and quotations omitted).

²⁹ *Id.*, n.16 (citation and quotation omitted).

1. The Trial Court Properly Considered the *Scavenius* Factors.

The Huhses incorrectly argue that the trial court "did not explain its rationale in striking" the jury demand and that "[n]othing in the record suggests the trial court considered the *Scavenius* factors at all." (Appellants' Br. at 19). The Huhses use these mischaracterizations to assert without supporting authority that this purported "abuse of discretion" requires a "de novo" review. But Washington law is that the trial court's decision will be deferred to "except for clear abuse." Moreover, the Huhses have forfeited their claim by not arguing to the trial court that it had failed to adequately address *Scavenius* factors. This court may decline to review arguments not raised below. 31

In fact, the trial court examined detailed briefing on the law framing its discretion, including the *Scavenius* analysis, and examined the same concepts that have been repeated here.³² The trial court succinctly applied the *Scavenius* factors in its Order Granting Plaintiffs' Motion to Strike Jury Demand (CP 815-16), stating: (a) "Although some legal claims remain after summary judgment, the primary claims are equitable."; (b) "In addition, the relief sought by plaintiff goes well beyond a request for money damages."; (c) that "the legal and equitable claims, in large part, are factually-related;" and, (d) "submission of the legal claims to a jury

³⁰ Foster v. Gilliam, 165 Wn. App. 33, 46, 268 P.3d 945 (2011).

³¹ RAP 2.5(a); *Sorrel v. Eagle Healthcare, Inc.*, 110 Wn. App. 290, 299, 38 P.2d 1024 (2002) ("where the trial court had no opportunity to address the issues, we decline to consider it.").

³² *Id.*, nn.28-29 (CP 797-817, 2052-58).

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